# THE MAGNITUDE OF THE PRIMARY KINETIC ISOTOPE EFFECT FOR COMPOUNDS OF HYDROGEN AND DEUTERIUM

# F. H. WESTHEIMER

# The James Bryant Conant Laboratory, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusette

### Received October 10, 1960

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	265
II.	The first approximation	265
III.	The experimental findings	266
IV.	Explanations for low $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ ratios	267
	A. Some special cases	267
	B. General theory	267
	C. An earlier explanation	268
V.	The second approximation	268
VI.	A simplified mathematical treatment	<b>2</b> 69
	A. The exponential term	269
	B. The preëxponential term	<b>2</b> 70
VII.	References.	272

# I. INTRODUCTION

The "deuterium isotope effect" has become one of the most important of the tools which physical-organic chemists employ in the elucidation of the mechanisms of chemical reactions. The theory of the magnitude of these effects is well advanced. But a partial failure of communications between physical chemists and organic chemists has led to a situation where a serious theoretical misunderstanding, or perhaps one should say a dilemma, has plagued the interpretation of the experimental data.

In general, when a bond to hydrogen or deuterium is broken in the rate-controlling step of a reaction, the rate constant,  $k_{H}$ , for the reaction of the hydrogen compound exceeds the constant,  $k_D$ , for the same reaction of the corresponding deuterium compound. Baldly stated—and oversimplified—the dilemma is this: Evring's theory of reaction rates and the crudest first-order approximation to the theory of isotope effects apparently lead to the prediction, for linear transition states, of a ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  in excess of 6, whereas many of the experimental results which have been obtained show that this ratio of rate constants may be only slightly greater than unity. The explanation conventionally offered for these low values of the kinetic isotope effect will here be shown to conflict with the absolute rate theory.

Excellent reviews (19, 32, 46) have discussed the application of the "deuterium isotope effect" to organic chemistry, have tabulated (9, 46) much of the available data, and have shown how to justify a large  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  ratio in terms of the vibrational zero-point energy of the molecules involved. The explanation for both small and large isotope effects is implicit in the complete

equations for the kinetic isotope effect as originally published by Bigeleisen and Mayer (6), and has been carefully considered in recent papers of Bigeleisen (7)and of H. S. Johnston (22, 25). This review examines the theoretical dilemma of the organic chemist and offers a simplified solution based on the work of Johnston.

### II. THE FIRST APPROXIMATION

Before the theory of small deuterium isotope effects is considered, the conventional first approximation is presented in Section II for the calculation of the ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ . A few pertinent experimental data are reviewed in Section III. Some special cases, and some more general ones, are discussed in Section IV. The "dilemma" is set forth at the end of that section, and the qualitative and quantitative aspects of the theory in Sections V and VI. The reader already familiar with the field can economically skip directly to these last two sections.

For brevity, the theory is discussed in terms of carbon-hydrogen and carbon-deuterium bonds, but it will of course apply to bonds with other elements than carbon and by a simple extension to compounds of tritium.

Eyring's theory for reaction rates (18) assumes that the reactants are in equilibrium with an "activated complex" or "transition state," and that this complex subsequently decomposes, in the rate-controlling step of the overall process, into products. The transition state is distinguished from ordinary chemical molecules in that one of its vibrations has been replaced by an internal translation.

Consider a reaction which involves the transfer of a

hydrogen atom<sup>1</sup> from a carbon-hydrogen bond in a molecule A—H to another molecule, B. As a first approximation, one of the degrees of freedom in A—H may be considered as a carbon-hydrogen stretching vibration. This vibration becomes translational motion, as the hydrogen atom moves from A to B in the transition state.

The major portion of the kinetic isotope effect arises from contributions to the activation energy from changes in zero-point energy which occur when the reactants are converted to an activated complex. The stretching vibration of A-H is quantized with a frequency  $\nu_{\rm H}$  and an associated zero-point vibration energy of  $\frac{1}{2}h\nu_{\rm H}$ . Assuming a carbon-hydrogen stretching frequency of 2900 A., the zero-point energy is about 4.15 kcal./mole. The corresponding carbon-deuterium frequency,  $\nu_{\rm D}$ , is about 2100 A. and the zero-point energy about 3.0 kcal./mole. The difference in zero-point energy,  $\frac{1}{2}h\nu_{\rm H} - \frac{1}{2}h\nu_{\rm D} \simeq 1.15$  kcal./mole. If this stretching vibration becomes, in the activated complex, a degree of translational freedom, the vibration is lost. Therefore  $\frac{1}{2}h\nu_{\rm H}^* - \frac{1}{2}h\nu_{\rm D}^* = 0$ , where  $\nu_{\rm H}^*$  and  $\nu_{\rm D}$  represent the (zero) frequencies for the stretching vibration of the C-H and C-D bonds in the activated complex. The net difference in activation energy for the reaction of AH and AD is then just 1.15 kcal./mole; at 300°K. this corresponds to a factor of 7 in rate. This simplified theory cannot easily account for smaller ratios of  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  in reactions which proceed via a linear transition state.

### III. THE EXPERIMENTAL FINDINGS

Many reactions show deuterium isotope effects near 300°K. of 6 or more. For example, the ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ for the bromination of acetone (36) is 7.7, for the bromination of nitromethane (35) is 6.5, and for the bromination of nitroethane (49) is 10. The ratio for the oxidation of isopropyl alcohol with chromic acid (44) varies with experimental conditions from 6.9 to 8.4. The ratio for the oxidation by permanganate of benzaldehyde in neutral aqueous solution (45) is 7, for the oxidation by permanganate of formate ion (48) is 7.4, and for the oxidation of desoxybenzoin by selenious acid (12) is about 6; the chromic acid oxidation of phenyl-tertbutylcarbinol in 86.5 per cent aqueous acetic acid gives a kinetic isotope effect (20) for deuterium of 14, and the permanganate oxidation of phenyltrifluoromethylcarbinol (40) in alkali one of 16. The attack of methyl radicals from diacetyl peroxide on toluene shows an isotope effect (15), measured from the methane produced, of nearly 9. The reaction of the lithium salt of cyclohexylamine with  $\alpha$ -deuteroethylbenzene shows an

isotope effect (41) for deuterium of  $12 \pm 3$ , and the bromination of ethyl cyclopentane-2-carboxylate, catalyzed by fluoride ion (24) at -20 °C., a value for  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ of 10. (The large value of this last isotope effect has been cited as evidence for "tunnelling" (4, 24).) These reactions with large isotope effects are of varied chemical types and include ionization reactions, oxidationreduction reactions with several different reagents, and a free-radical reaction.

The oxidation of ethanol to acetaldehyde with bromine (26) shows an intermediate isotope effect of 4: the cyclization (11) of the N-chloro derivative of methylamylamine-4-d by a free-radical pathway shows a  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  of 3.5. The elimination of trimethylamine from n-butyltrimethylammonium ion (39) gives a similar intermediate isotope effect, and the elimination reactions (37) with alkali from  $C_6H_5CD_2CH_2X$  show ratios of  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  which vary from 8.0 (for X = tosyl in tertbutyl alcohol at 30°C.) to 3.0 (for  $X = N(CH_3)_3$  in ethanol at 50°C.). Isotope effects for many free-radical reactions in the gas phase have been listed by Trotman-Dickenson (43); in particular, at 182°C., the reaction of  $CH_3$  with acetone proceeds 2.5 times as rapidly as does the reaction between  $CD_3$  and hexadeuteroacetone, and the reaction of  $CH_3$  is 3 times as fast with  $H_2$  as with  $D_2$ . Provided that the major factor in the isotopic rate effect arises from the contributions of zero-point energy to the activation energy, these rate factors at 182°C. correspond to ratios of 4 to 5 at 25°C.

On the other hand, many kinetic isotope effects are considerably smaller than those cited above. The ratio for the Cannizzaro reaction (45) is only 1.8, that for the oxidation of isopropyl alcohol by bromine (42)only 2.8, and that for the oxidation of isopropyl alcohol by the triphenylmethyl cation (2) is 1.8-2.6. Furthermore, the reaction of water with the diphenylboranepyridine complex (21) gives a kinetic isotope effect of 1.5 and the acid-catalyzed rearrangement of methylallyl alcohol to isobutyraldehyde (1) a ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  of 1.2-1.5. The rate of adsorption for hydrogen on platinum black exceeds the rate for deuterium by a factor (30) of about 1.5 at 18°C. The ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  for the neutralization of organometallic compounds with water or alcohol is near unity or in some cases slightly less than unity (33). Not all of the examples cited above are mechanistically clear; other examples of low isotope effects are even less useful for the purpose of this exposition, for there is reason to question whether a bond to hydrogen is broken in the rate-controlling step. In this category, the ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  for the reaction of triphenylsilane (27) with water is 1.15, and the formation of fluorenone from ring-labeled o-phenylbenzoic acid (13) shows an isotope effect of 1.4 in sulfuric acid and of 3 in hydrofluoric acid. The formation of fluorenone by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> No distinction is here intended between  $H^+$ ,  $H_{\cdot}$ , and  $H^-$ ; the term "hydrogen atom" is used for all. A and B are atoms or groups of atoms, but for the purpose of this review they have no structure.

the oxidation of o-phenylbenzaldehyde with di-tertbutyl peroxide (14) gives a ratio,  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ , of 1.4, the formation of fluorenone by the diazotization of ophenylbenzylamine (14) a ratio of 1.1, and the formation of the lactone



by the thermal decomposition of the peroxide of ophenylbenzoic acid (14) a ratio of 1.3. In the benzoylation of aniline and of N,N-dideuteroaniline (16), the ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  of 0.86 is probably a secondary isotope effect.

Among the most important examples, for the purposes of the present disscusion, are those of Wiberg and Slaugh (47), who studied the free-radical chlorination and bromination of deuterotoluenes. Their work amplified earlier contributions to the subject (8). They found that the  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  ratio for the removal of a hydrogen atom from the methyl group of toluene by bromine atoms at 77 °C. is 4.6, by chlorine atoms (under slightly different conditions) is 1.3, and by SO<sub>2</sub>Cl · radicals is 1.4. In free-radical brominations with *N*-bromosuccinimide,  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  was 4.9 for toluene, 2.7 for ethylbenzene, and 1.8 for cumene.

The reactions discussed above are not concerned with solvent isotope effects (6, 46) nor (in general) with secondary isotope effects (38). No attempt has been made here to give an exhaustive list of experimental results, or even to supplement earlier reviews (9, 19, 46). Rather a few examples have been cited to show that the kinetic isotope effect for deuterium varies in magnitude from 1 to 16 (or more) and that both polar and free-radical processes may show isotope effects of different size.

# IV. EXPLANATIONS FOR LOW $k_H/k_D$ ratios

# A. Some special cases

In certain special cases, the low ratios of  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ may be adequately explained. These are irrelevant to the main argument in this article and are briefly discussed only for the sake of completeness. First of all, the kinetic isotope effect obtains only when a bond to a hydrogen atom is broken (or formed) in the ratecontrolling step of a reaction. Melander (31) could account for the absence of an isotope effect in the nitration of toluene by postulating that the reaction occurs by way of a cyclohexadiene intermediate. Provided that the rate-controlling step in nitration is the addition of NO<sub>2</sub>+ to the aromatic system to produce this intermediate, no isotope effect should be observed, since a carbon-hydrogen bond is not broken in the rate-controlling step of the process. This explanation has received strong substantiation in Zollinger's work on the aromatic coupling reaction (50). In the presence of bases which can easily remove a hydrogen ion, the rate-controlling step of this reaction is the addition of the diazonium cation to the aromatic system, and the reaction, by analogy with nitration, shows almost no kinetic isotope effect. However, when little base is present, the removal of the proton is no longer fast relative to the condensation process, but becomes rate-controlling; in these circumstances, an isotope effect as large as a factor of 6.55 has been observed. Further, this hypothesis is consistent with much other data concerning the mechanism of aromatic substitution (10, 29). Although this explanation is valid where used, many of the small isotope effects cited in Section III do not fall within this special class.

A broader category of reactions where the isotope effect will be small contains those which proceed internally, by way of "triangular" transition states (21, 28). In these reactions, the bond in A—H is not stretched to its breaking point; rather it is bent so that the hydrogen atom may become attached to another part of the molecule, A. An excellent example is that of Bartlett and Anderson (1), where the transition state probably has the geometry shown below. E. S. Lewis

\*\*

and his collaborators have pointed out (21, 28) that in such reactions, it may more nearly be said that a bending rather than a stretching is converted to translational motion. Since vibration frequencies for bending are much lower than those for stretching, the zeropoint energy lost in the transition state (and hence the contribution of zero-point energy to the activation energy) will be small. Some of the examples cited in Section III fall in this category, but of course many do not; in particular, the attacks of bromine and chlorine atoms on toluene (47) probably occur by way of linear transition states.

#### B. General theory

A general explanation for a spectrum of values of the ratio  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  is that the theory offered in Section II is oversimplified to the point of absurdity. The "back-of-an-envelope" calculation is concerned with the zero-point energy of only one vibration; it does not take into account the entire partition function of the reactants or of the activated complex; it does not take into account the rate of "translation" across the barrier; it does not take into account the "transmission coefficient"; and it does not take into take into account the "tunnelling" of hydrogen through the barrier.

The assumption was made that the only vibration of importance is the stretching of the bond A-H. This motion is not even a proper vibration, since the "normal vibrations" of the molecule will include motions of all the atoms, and not a vibration of one bond. Even if the normal vibrations are approximated by a set of bond vibrations, the bending as well as the stretching modes for the C-H bond should be taken into account. Furthermore, in a polymolecular reaction, new vibration frequencies are introduced into the transition state. Two nonlinear molecules, which have n and m atoms, respectively, have altogether 6 degrees of rotational freedom, 6 degrees of translational freedom, and 3n+ 3m - 12 degrees of vibration. When combined with an activated complex, they have only 3 degrees of rotational freedom and 4 of translation, but 3n + 3m-7 vibrations; 5 new vibrations (or internal rotations) have been introduced into the transition state. In a proper treatment, all of these should be taken into account.

More precisely,

$$\frac{\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{H}}}{\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{D}}} = \frac{Q_{\mathrm{D}}Q_{\mathrm{H}}^{\dagger}}{Q_{\mathrm{H}}Q_{\mathrm{D}}^{\dagger}} \tag{1}$$

where the Q's and  $Q^{\dagger}$ 's are the partition functions for the molecules AH and DH and for the activated complexes AHB and ADB. Moreover, for the computation of isotope effects involving hydrogen, deuterium, and tritium, important tunnelling effects (3, 7, 25) must also be determined. In special cases the partition functions have been evaluated, and moderately complete calculations of isotope effects have been performed in which all or most of these complexities have been taken into account; the reactions of hydrogen atoms with hydrogen molecules (17), of methyl radicals with hydrogen molecules (34), and of chlorine atoms with hydrogen molecules (5) have been reviewed by Bigeleisen and Wolfsberg (7), and the reaction of methyl radicals with ethane by Johnston (25). Although these calculations are important contributions to physical chemistry, they do not offer a qualitative or pictorial understanding of variations in the magnitudes of isotope effects.

# C. An earlier explanation

Organic chemists have had an ingenious explanation for the low values of  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ , which runs something as follows. The bond in A—H may be only partially broken in the transition state. Then it will retain some strength and maintain a definite vibration frequency, so that the zero-point energy for the hydrogen compound in the transition state will exceed that for the corresponding deuterium compound. The contribution of the zero-point energy is a double difference:

Consequently, it has been argued that in the case above,  $\Delta ZPE$  is less than it would have been if the bond between A and H had been completely broken in the activated complex. The kinetic isotope effect need not, therefore, be large.

But this argument, as stated, is in direct conflict with the theory of absolute rates (18). The derivation of Eyring's equation requires that the vibration in question become translation, and no compromise with this point is possible which will preserve the essential outlines of the transition-state theory. The "calculation" of Section II assumes Evring's formulation and the explanation above denies it; both ideas cannot be incorporated in the same treatment. The purpose of the present article is to point a way, short of a complete solution of every problem in terms of partition functions, to a reconciliation of the absolute rate theory with low kinetic isotope effects. The theory, outlined in Sections V and VI, is a simplified version of that of H.S. Johnston; his publications, and those of Bigeleisen, go far beyond these considerations. A less mathematical but essentially equivalent treatment has been offered by Melander (32).

### V. THE SECOND APPROXIMATION

Consider the reaction

$$AH + B \rightleftharpoons A \cdots H \cdots B \rightarrow A + HB$$
 (2)

where  $A \cdots H \cdots B$  is a linear transition state restricted to the *x*-axis. This assumption amounts to ignoring bending vibrations; further, A and B are regarded as structureless groups. (Here and subsequently, the equations will generally be written for hydrogen, and parallel equations for deuterium will be assumed.) If  $A \cdots H \cdots B$  were a linear molecule (rather than an activated complex), it would have two stretching vibrations, a symmetrical and an antisymmetrical one.

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \leftarrow A & H & B \rightarrow & \leftarrow A & H \rightarrow \leftarrow B \\ & & & \\ Symmetric & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & &$$

Neither of these corresponds to the stretching vibration of A—H or B—H. If  $A \cdots H \cdots B$  is a transition state, one of these vibrations becomes translation, as required by Eyring's theory. But the other vibration is retained. Now, if this vibration is truly symmetrical, A and B move in opposite directions, and the hydrogen atom remains motionless. The vibration frequency is therefore independent of whether hydrogen or deuterium is present in the complex, and the formation of the transition state leads to a change in zero-point energy of 1.15 kcal./mole, as suggested in Section II. However, when the strengths of the partial bonds of H to A and to B are not equal, the so-called "symmetrical" vibra-

tion will no longer consist merely of the motion of A and B; the hydrogen atom will move, too. (This is easily seen, for example, where H is bonded much more tightly to A than to B.) Therefore the vibration frequency must depend to some extent on the mass of the central atom, i.e., on whether it is hydrogen or deuterium. The "symmetric" vibration will have a zeropoint energy for hydrogen different from that for deuterium, and this difference will decrease the contribution of zero-point energy to the activation energies for the reactions of AH and AD. Consequently, the isotope effect will be small. At first, this may sound something like the organic chemists' notion that the isotope effect will be lowered when the bond is only partially broken in the transition state. But more closely analyzed, the ideas are quite different. The vibration in A-H corresponds neither to the real nor to the imaginary vibration of A-H-B. The bond which is present in the transition state, and which contributes to its zero-point energy, is one which does not exist in either the reactants or the products; it is a vibration peculiar to the activated complex. The distinction is shown schematically in figure 1.



FIG. 1. Schematic representation of a contour map for the energy of a transition state, A—H—B. The doubleheaded arrow shows the "symmetric" vibration, the dotted arrow the direction for reaction.

#### VI. A SIMPLIFIED MATHEMATICAL TREATMENT

### A. The exponential term

These ideas are much better expressed quantitatively than qualitatively. Let us place the groups A, H, and B in one-dimensional space, and describe by  $x_A$ ,  $x_H$ , and  $x_B$  the *displacements* of these atoms from their equilibrium positions in a molecule which later will be equated to the transition state.

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{A} & \mathbf{H} & \mathbf{B} \\ - \mathbf{\Phi} & \mathbf{\Phi} & \mathbf{\Phi} \\ x_{\overrightarrow{\mathbf{A}}} & x_{\overrightarrow{\mathbf{B}}} & x_{\overrightarrow{\mathbf{B}}} \end{array}$$

Let the force constant for the stretching of the bond between A and H be called  $\mathbf{k}_1$ , and that for the stretching of the bond between H and B be called  $\mathbf{k}_2$ . In contrast to the situation in simple molecules, where similar bond stretchings may be nearly independent, the motions in the activated complex are necessarily strongly coupled; the coupling constant is called  $\beta$ . Therefore the potential energy, V, for the molecule AHB is given by equation 3.

$$V = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{k}_{1}(x_{\rm H} - x_{\rm A})^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{k}_{2}(x_{\rm B} - x_{\rm H})^{2} + \beta(x_{\rm H} - x_{\rm A})(x_{\rm B} - x_{\rm H}) \quad (3)$$

One can calculate the force on A, H, and B as the negative partial derivatives of the potential with respect to the displacement coördinates:

$$\frac{\delta V}{\delta x_{\rm A}} = -F_{\rm A} = -\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}(x_{\rm H} - x_{\rm A}) - \beta x_{\rm B} + \beta x_{\rm H} \tag{4}$$

 $\frac{\delta V}{\delta x_{\rm H}} = -F_{\rm H} = \mathbf{k}_{\rm i}(x_{\rm H} - x_{\rm A}) - \mathbf{k}_{\rm g}(x_{\rm B} - x_{\rm H}) + \beta x_{\rm B} - 2\beta x_{\rm H} + \beta x_{\rm A} \quad (5)$ 

$$\frac{\delta V}{\delta x_{\rm B}} = -F_{\rm B} = \mathbf{k}_2(x_{\rm B} - x_{\rm H}) + \beta x_{\rm H} - \beta x_{\rm A} \tag{6}$$

Now

$$F = ma = m \frac{\mathrm{d}^3 x}{\mathrm{d}t^3} \tag{7}$$

where m is the mass of any atom, **a** is acceleration, and t is time. In order to find the acceleration, it will be assumed that the particles A, H, and B move in normal vibrations with harmonic motion, or

$$x = L \sin 2\pi \nu t + N \cos 2\pi \nu t \tag{8}$$

so that

$$d^{2}x/dt^{2} = -\lambda x, \text{ where } \lambda = 4\pi^{2}\nu^{2} \qquad (9)$$

Combining equations 4, 5, and 6 with 7 and 9,

$$(m_{\mathbf{A}}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_{1})x_{\mathbf{A}} + (\mathbf{k}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\beta})x_{\mathbf{H}} + \boldsymbol{\beta}x_{\mathbf{B}} = 0 \qquad (10)$$

$$(\mathbf{k}_1 - \beta)x_{\mathbf{A}} + (m_{\mathbf{H}}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2 + 2\beta)x_{\mathbf{H}} + (\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta)x_{\mathbf{B}} = 0 \quad (11)$$

$$\beta x_{\mathrm{A}} + (\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{I}} - \beta) x_{\mathrm{H}} + (m_{\mathrm{B}}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{I}}) x_{\mathrm{B}} = 0 \qquad (12)$$

These constitute three homogeneous linear equations in the three unknowns  $x_A$ ,  $x_H$ , and  $x_B$ , and they can be simultaneously valid if, and only if, the determinant of equation 13 is zero.

$$\begin{vmatrix} m_{A}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_{1} & \mathbf{k}_{1} - \beta & \beta \\ \mathbf{k}_{1} - \beta & m_{H}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_{1} - \mathbf{k}_{2} + 2\beta & \mathbf{k}_{2} - \beta \\ \beta & \mathbf{k}_{2} - \beta & m_{B}\lambda - \mathbf{k}_{2} \end{vmatrix} = 0 \quad (13)$$

Equation 13 can be expanded to equation 14:

$$m_{\mathbf{A}}m_{\mathbf{H}}m_{\mathbf{B}}\lambda^{\mathbf{a}} - (m_{\mathbf{A}}m_{\mathbf{H}}\mathbf{k}_{2} + m_{\mathbf{A}}m_{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{k}_{1} + m_{\mathbf{A}}m_{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{k}_{2} + m_{\mathbf{H}}m_{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{k}_{1} - 2m_{\mathbf{A}}m_{\mathbf{B}}\beta)\lambda^{\mathbf{a}} + (m_{\mathbf{A}} + m_{\mathbf{H}} + m_{\mathbf{B}})(\mathbf{k}_{1}\mathbf{k}_{2} - \beta^{\mathbf{a}})\lambda = 0 \quad (14)$$

Equation 14 contains no constant term, so that one factor of the equation is

$$\lambda = 0 \tag{15}$$

This solution is the familiar one for similar exercises (23) and corresponds to the translation of the "molecule" AHB in the one-dimensional space along the *x*-axis. If AHB represents an activated complex rather than a molecule, absolute rate theory demands that a second frequency be zero or imaginary, i.e., one of the vibrations must become translation. A second value of  $\lambda$  can be set equal to zero if the last term in equation 14 vanishes, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2 = 0 \tag{16}$$

In equation 16  $\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  is set equal to zero. If the coupling constant,  $\beta$ , between the stretching of AH and of HB (see equation 3) is small,  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  is positive, and both of the frequencies calculated from equation 14'are real (when  $\lambda$  is factored from equation 14, the resulting quadratic equation may be called 14'). Under these conditions, AHB corresponds to a molecule and not to an activated complex, since any displacement of the atoms is met by a restoring force, and the molecule merely vibrates. However, when (as in equation 16) the quantity  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  vanishes, one of the values of  $\lambda$ in equation 14' becomes zero, and therefore (since by definition  $\lambda = 4\pi^2 \nu^2$ ) one of the frequencies in AHB becomes zero, i.e., a vibration becomes translation. But if the coupling constant,  $\beta$ , is very large,  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$ becomes negative rather than zero. Inspection shows that under these conditions, one of the quadratic roots for  $\lambda$  in equation 14' is necessarily negative. Since  $\lambda =$  $4\pi^2\nu^2$ , the negative value of  $\lambda$  corresponds to an imaginary frequency,  $\nu^*$ . The imaginary frequency represents translational motion.

The differential equation for simple harmonic motion corresponds to the oscillation of a particle in a parabolic potential well and requires a positive force constant and a real vibrational frequency. A transition state, however, corresponds to the situation where a particle moves under the influence of a potential function with a maximum rather than a minimum at the position where the complex "exists." There is no restoring force to hold the complex together; on the contrary, the force constant for the motion is negative, and the potential function is concave downward, not upward. A negative force constant will yield an imaginary vibrational frequency. The more sophisticated theory of isotope effects assumes that  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  is negative, and the frequency  $\nu^*$  imaginary rather than zero. The simpler treatment here presented nevertheless goes a long way toward illustrating the essential ideas involved in the more elaborate work.

Equation 16 states that the coupling constant in the activated complex is the square root of the product

of the two other force constants. When equation 16 is valid, equation 14 reduces to equation 17:

$$\lambda = 4\pi^2 \nu^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{k_1}{m_A} + \frac{k_2}{m_B} + \frac{k_1 + k_2 - 2\sqrt{k_1 k_2}}{m_H}$$
(17)

Equation 17 shows the influence of isotopic mass upon the frequency (and hence upon the zero-point energy) of the "symmetric" vibration in the transition state.

When  $\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k}_2 = \mathbf{k}$ , equation 17 becomes:

$$\lambda = 4\pi^{2}\nu^{\frac{1}{2}} = \mathbf{k} \left( \frac{1}{m_{\mathrm{A}}} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathrm{B}}} \right) \tag{18}$$

The mass of the hydrogen atom does not enter this expression; hence the frequency is unchanged on isotopic substitution. At this level of approximation, the bond lengths for the transition state do not enter the calculation; the zero-point energy for the two isotopic activated complexes will be the same provided that the force constants,  $\mathbf{k}_1$  and  $\mathbf{k}_2$ , are equal.

But suppose the force constants are not equal. If, for example,  $\mathbf{k}_1 \gg \mathbf{k}_2$ , equation 17 reduces to equation 19:

$$\lambda = 4\pi^{\mathbf{s}} \boldsymbol{\mu}^{\mathbf{t}} = \mathbf{k}_1 \left( \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{A}}} + \frac{1}{m_{\mathbf{H}}} \right) \tag{19}$$

Here the mass of the hydrogen (or deuterium) atom enters into the expression for the frequency of the "symmetrical" vibration; furthermore, since  $m_A$  and  $m_B$  are presumably large compared to the mass of either a hydrogen or a deuterium atom, the frequencies  $\nu_H^{\dagger}$ and  $\nu_D^{\dagger}$  will be almost in inverse ratio to the square roots of the masses of the isotopes. For example, if  $m_A$ = 12,  $m_B$  = 16, and  $\mathbf{k}_1$  = 10 $\mathbf{k}_2$ , then the frequencies  $\nu_H^{\dagger}$ and  $\nu_D^{\dagger}$  will lie in the ratio of 1.32:1. The situation is similar if  $\mathbf{k}_2 \gg \mathbf{k}_1$ . If the magnitude of  $\nu_H^{\dagger}$  is large, the difference between the zero-point energy of A—H—B and A—D—B may be as large as that between AH and AD, and the contribution of zero-point energy to the activation energy may vanish.

# B. The preëxponential term

For the reaction of AH with B, through the linear activated complex A—H—B, equation 1 can be expanded to equation 20.

$$\frac{k_{\rm H}}{k_{\rm D}} = \frac{\nu_{\rm H}^*}{\nu_{\rm D}} \frac{\nu_{\rm AD}}{\nu_{\rm AH}} \frac{\nu_{\rm H}^*}{\nu_{\rm D}^*} e^{\Delta Z {\rm PE}/RT}$$
(20)

Here  $\nu_{\rm H}^*$  and  $\nu_{\rm D}^*$  are the (zero) frequencies of the vibrations of the transition state which become translational motion,  $\nu_{\rm AH}$  and  $\nu_{\rm AD}$  are the stretching frequencies of the one-dimensional molecules AH and AD, and  $\nu_{\rm H}^*$ and  $\nu_{\rm D}^*$  are the frequencies of the real vibration in the transition states of AHB and ADB. The derivation of this equation is indicated in the Appendix.

In order to evaluate the preëxponential factor in

equation 20, the indicated frequencies must be found, and in particular the quotient of null frequencies,  $\nu_{\rm H}^*/\nu_{\rm D}^*$ , must be estimated by solving equation 14 as a quadratic in  $\lambda$ , obtaining the ratio of the frequencies for the antisymmetric vibrations of AHB and ADB, and then allowing  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  to approach zero, so that the frequencies  $\nu_{\rm H}^*$  and  $\nu_{\rm D}^*$  each approach zero.

When  $\lambda$  is factored from equation 14, the residue is a standard quadratic equation, of the form

$$a\lambda^2 + b\lambda + c = 0 \tag{21}$$

where  $c = (m_A + m_H + m_B)(\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2)$ . When c is small (in the present example it will be allowed to approach zero), the solutions to equation 21 are  $\lambda = -b/a$  and  $\lambda^* = -c/b$ . The frequency corresponding to  $\lambda$  has already been found (equation 17). Then

$$\frac{(m_{\rm A}+m_{\rm H}+m_{\rm B})(\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2-\beta^2)}{m_{\rm A}m_{\rm H}\mathbf{k}_2+m_{\rm A}m_{\rm B}\mathbf{k}_1+m_{\rm A}m_{\rm B}\mathbf{k}_2+m_{\rm H}m_{\rm B}\mathbf{k}_2-2m_{\rm A}m_{\rm B}\beta}$$
(22)

Equation 22 may be simplified with the aid of equations 17 and 23

$$m_{\rm A} + m_{\rm H} + m_{\rm B} = M \tag{23}$$

where M is the molecular weight of the activated complex. So

$$\lambda^* = 4\pi (\nu^*)^2 = \frac{M}{m_A m_H m_B} \cdot \frac{(\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2)}{\lambda}$$
(24)

where  $\nu^*$  is the zero "frequency" of the antisymmetric "vibration." In the quotient of  $\lambda_H^*$  by  $\lambda_D^*$ , the term  $\mathbf{k}_1\mathbf{k}_2 - \beta^2$  appears in both numerator and denominator; as the term is allowed to approach zero (see equation 16), the quotient is nevertheless represented by equation 25.

$$\frac{\lambda_{\rm H}^{*}}{\lambda_{\rm D}^{*}} = \frac{M_{\rm H}}{M_{\rm D}} \frac{m_{\rm D}}{m_{\rm H}} \frac{\lambda_{\rm D}}{\lambda_{\rm H}} = \frac{M_{\rm H}}{m_{\rm D}} \cdot \frac{m_{\rm D}}{m_{\rm H}} \cdot \frac{\frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}}{m_{\rm A}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 2}}{m_{\rm B}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1} + \mathbf{k}_{\rm 2} - 2\sqrt{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1}\mathbf{k}_{\rm 2}}}{m_{\rm D}} \frac{m_{\rm D}}{m_{\rm D}} \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1}}{\frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1}}{m_{\rm A}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 2}}{m_{\rm B}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1} + \mathbf{k}_{\rm 2} - 2\sqrt{\mathbf{k}_{\rm 1}\mathbf{k}_{\rm 2}}}{m_{\rm H}}}$$
(25)

If  $\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k}_2$ , i.e., if the force constants binding H (or D) to A and B are equal, then

$$\frac{\lambda_{\rm H}^*}{\lambda_{\rm D}^*} = \frac{M_{\rm H}}{M_{\rm D}} \frac{m_{\rm D}}{m_{\rm H}} \tag{26}$$

Since  $M_{\rm H}$  does not differ much from  $M_{\rm D}$ ,

$$\frac{\nu_{\rm H}^*}{\nu_{\rm D}} \simeq \sqrt{2} \tag{27}$$

Under these conditions, the quotient  $\nu_{AD}/\nu_{AH}$  is approximately equal to  $1/\sqrt{2}$ , and the quotient  $\nu_{H}^{\dagger}/\nu_{D}^{\dagger}$ equals 1. The latter follows because, when the force constants  $\mathbf{k}_{1}$  and  $\mathbf{k}_{2}$  are equal, the symmetric vibration is independent of the isotope involved (see equation 18). The entire preëxponential term of equation 20 is then unity.

However, if  $\mathbf{k}_1 \gg \mathbf{k}_2$ , then

$$\frac{\lambda_{\rm H}^*}{\lambda_{\rm D}^*} \simeq \frac{M_{\rm H}}{M_{\rm D}} \frac{m_{\rm D}}{m_{\rm H}} \left[ \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}}{m_{\rm A}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}}{m_{\rm D}} \right] / \left[ \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}}{m_{\rm A}} + \frac{\mathbf{k}_{\rm I}}{m_{\rm H}} \right]$$
(28)

Since  $m_A \gg m_D$ ,  $m_H$ , equation 28 reduces, approximately, to equation 29.

$$\frac{\lambda_{\rm H}^*}{\lambda_{\rm D}^*} = \frac{(\nu_{\rm H}^*)^2}{(\nu_{\rm D}^*)^2} = 1$$
(29)

Here again the preëxponential factor is approximately unity, since the ratio of the frequencies of the "symmetric" vibration now "cancels" the ratio of the frequencies for the molecules AH and AD, and the ratio  $\nu_{\rm H}^*/\nu_{\rm D}^*$  is 1. Regardless, then, of the ratio of the force constants, the preëxponential factor estimated for this simplified model is near unity.<sup>2</sup> In any real example, wherever the force constants in the activated state are widely different, the rate ratio,  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$ , will tend toward 1, and will be small because of the small difference in zero-point energy and because of a preexponential factor near unity. An alternative approach to the same conclusion has been offered by Melander (32).

For example, in the chlorination of toluene (47), the transition state is presumably linear and may resemble closely a chlorine atom and a toluene molecule; that is to say, the maximum in the energy barrier may occur before very much lengthening of the C-H bond has taken place, or very much binding between hydrogen and chlorine. The absolute rate theory demands that, in the transition state, one vibration is completely converted to translational motion. But this motion is largely that of the carbon and chlorine atoms, and the hydrogen atom takes little part in it, although it is the atom transferred. Furthermore, the "symmetrical" vibration in the transition state, where the carbon and chlorine atoms move either together or apart without rupture of the activated complex, is distinguished by the large motion of the hydrogen atom. It is this "symmetric" vibration which contributes zero-point energy to the transition state and accounts for the low ratio of  $k_{\rm H}/k_{\rm D}$  which is observed.

Obviously, this theory of a linear one-dimensional transition state is highly simplified. Most activated complexes are not linear, none is one-dimensional, and all of them will have bending vibrations which should be taken into account. Further, the extreme approxi-

<sup>2</sup> It should be stressed again (see Appendix) that this approximation holds only for those temperatures sufficiently low that the terms in the vibrational partition function of the form  $1 - e^{-h_{P\ell}/kT}$  are near unity. At very high temperatures this approximation no longer holds, and in the limit, the preëxponential factor approximates  $\nu_{\rm H}^{2}/\nu_{\rm D}^{2}$ . However, this limit lies in a region of temperature where few if any organic compounds exist, and so this special case is of little experimental interest. mations here made can apply only to problems of the isotope effects for hydrogen, deuterium, and tritium. The proper solution to other problems may require a complete evaluation of all the partition functions, the  $\nu_{\rm H}^*/\nu_{\rm D}$  ratio, and the tunnelling effect. Nevertheless, the simple treatment justifies the use of the absolute rate theory in those cases with a linear transition state, where a low kinetic isotope effect has been found, and provides a bridge between the oversimplified first approximation and the complete but rather unwieldy mathematical solutions of the problem of the kinetic isotope effect.

The author wishes to acknowledge the helpful conversations that he has had concerning this paper with Professors H. S. Johnston, P. D. Bartlett, and Lars Melander.

### VII. REFERENCES

- (1) BARTLETT, P. D., AND ANDERSON, R.: Private communication.
- (2) BARTLETT, P. D., AND MCCOLLUM, J. D.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1441 (1956).
- (3) BELL, R. P.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 55, 1 (1959).
- (4) BELL, R. P., FENDLEY, J. A., AND HULETT, J. R.: Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 235A, 452 (1956).
- (5) BIGELEISEN, J., KLEIN, F. S., WESTON, R. E., JR., AND WOLFSBERG, M.: J. Chem. Phys. 30, 1340 (1959); cf. WHEELER, F., TOPLEY, B., AND EYRING, H.: J. Chem. Phys. 4, 178 (1936).
- (6) BIGELEISEN, J., AND MAYER, M. G.: J. Chem. Phys. 15, 261 (1947).
- (7) BIGELEISEN, J., AND WOLFSBERG, M.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 1535 (1955); Advances in Chem. Phys. 1, 15 (1958).
- (8) BROWN, H. C., AND RUSSELL, G. A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3995 (1952).
- URRY, W. H.: Abstracts of Papers Presented at the 12th National Symposium, Denver, Colorado, June, 1951, p. 30.
- (9) BROWN, L. M., AND FRIEDMAN, A. S.: Natl. Bur. Standards (U.S.) Repts. 3091, 3676.
- (10) CANNELL, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 2927, 2932 (1957).
- (11) COREY, E. J., AND HERTLER, W. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 82, 1657 (1960).
- (12) COREY, E. J., AND SCHAEFER, J. P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 82, 918 (1960).
- (13) DENNEY, D. B., AND KLEMCHUK, P. P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 3285 (1958).
- (14) DENNEY, D. B., AND KLEMCHUK, P. P.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 3289 (1958).
- (15) ELIEL, E. L., WILKEN, P. H., FANG, F. T., AND WILEN, S. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 3303 (1958).
  WILEN, S. H., AND ELIEL, E. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 3309 (1958).
- (16) ELLIOTT, J. F., AND MASON, S. F.: Chem. & Ind. (London) 1959, 488.
- (17) FARKAS, L., AND WIGNER, E. P.: Trans. Faraday Soc. 32, 708 (1936).
- (18) GLASSTONE, S., LAIDLER, K. J., AND EYRING, H.: The Theory of Rate Processes. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York (1941).
- (19) GOLD, V., AND SATCHELL, D. P. N.: Quart. Revs. (London) 9, 51 (1955).

- (20) HAMPTON, J., LEO, A., AND WESTHEIMER, F. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 306 (1956).
- (21) HAWTHORNE, M. F., AND LEWIS, E. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 4296 (1958).
- (22) HERSCHBACH, D. R., JOHNSTON, H. S., PITZER, K. S., AND POWELL, R. E.: J. Chem. Phys. 25, 736 (1956).
  - JOHNSTON, H. S., BONNER, W. A., AND WILSON, D. J.: J. Chem. Phys. 26, 1002 (1957).

Wilson, D. J., and Johnston, H. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 29 (1957).

- (23) Cf. HERZBERG, G.: Infrared and Raman Spectra. D. Van Nostrand Company, New York (1950).
- (24) HULETT, J. R.: J. Chem. Soc. 1960, 468.
- (25) JOHNSTON, H. S.: Advances in Chem. Phys. 3, 131 (1961).
- (26) KAPLAN, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 2639 (1958).
- (27) KAPLAN, L., AND WILZBACH, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 1300 (1955).
- (28) LEWIS, E. S., AND SYMONS, M. C. R.: Quart. Revs. (London) 12, 230 (1958).
- (29) DE LA MARE, P. D. B., AND RIDD, J. H.: Aromatic Substitution. Academic Press, New York (1959).
- (30) MAXTED, E. B., AND MOON, C. H.: J. Chem. Soc. 1936, 1542.
- (31) MELANDER, L.: Arkiv Kemi 12, 211 (1950).
- (32) MELANDER, L.: Isotope Effects on Reaction Rates. Ronald Press, New York (1960).
- (33) ORCHIN, M., WENDLER, I., AND FRIEDEL, R. A.: Anal. Chem. 21, 1072 (1949).
  - FRIEDMAN, L., AND IRSA, A. P.: Anal. Chem. 24, 876 (1952).
- (34) POLANYI, J. C.: J. Chem. Phys. 23, 1505 (1955); 24, 493 (1956).
- (35) REITZ, O.: Z. physik. Chem. (Leipzig) A176, 363 (1936).
- (36) REITZ, O.: Z. physik. Chem. (Leipzig) A179, 119 (1937).
   REITZ, O., AND KOPP, J.: Z. physik. Chem. (Leipzig) A184, 429 (1939).
- (37) SAUNDERS, W. H., JR., AND EDISON, D. H.: J. Am. Chem-Soc. 82, 138 (1960).
- (38) SHINER, V. J., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 2925 (1953).
   LEWIS, E. S., AND BOOZER, C. E.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 791 (1954).
- SHINER, V. J., JR.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 2653 (1956).
- (39) SHINER, V. J., JR., AND SMITH, M. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 4095 (1958).
- (40) STEWART, R., AND VAN DER LINDEN, R.: Tetrahedron Letters 2, 28 (1960).
- (41) STREITWIESER, A., JR., VAN SICKLE, D. E., AND REIF, L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 82, 1513 (1960).
- (42) SWAIN, C. G., WILES, R. A., AND BADER, R. F. W.: Private communication.
- (43) TROTMAN-DICKENSON, A. F.: Gas Kinetics. Butterworths Scientific Publications, London (1955).
- (44) WESTHEIMER, F. H., AND NICOLAIDES, N.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71, 25 (1949).
  - COHEN, M., AND WESTHEIMER, F. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 4387 (1952).
- (45) WIBERG, K. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 5371 (1954).
- (46) WIBERG, K. B.: Chem. Revs. 55, 713 (1955).
- (47) WIBERG, K. B., AND SLAUGH, L. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 3033 (1958).
- (48) WIBERG, K. B., AND STEWART, R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 1214 (1956).
- (49) WYNNE-JONES, W. F. K.: J. Chem. Phys. 2, 381 (1934).
- (50) ZOLLINGER, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 38, 1617 (1955).
   HODSON, H. F., STAMM, O. A., AND ZOLLINGER, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 41, 1816 (1958).
  - ERNST, R., STAMM, O. A., AND ZOLLINGER, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 41, 2274 (1958).

### APPENDIX

A brief description is here added concerning the derivation (6) of equation 20. The application of Eyring's absolute rate theory (18) to the relative rates of reactions of isotopic molecules leads to equation 1, where the Q for each molecule or activated complex may be expanded as the product of translational, rotational, and vibrational partition functions (but with neglect of tunnelling). The quotients of the translational and rotational partition functions for isotopic molecules may be expressed in terms of vibrational frequencies and the masses,  $m_i$ , of the various atoms by equating the classical and quantum-mechanical partition functions at high temperatures. Since the potential functions for isotopic molecules are the same, the ratio of the total classical partition functions for isotopic molecules

$$Q_{\text{olassical}}/Q'_{\text{lassical}} \text{ reduces (6) to } \prod^{i} \left(\frac{m_{i}}{m_{i}}\right)^{i/s}$$
 (20a)

and when T is large, the ratio of vibrational partition functions,

$$Q_{\text{vib}}/Q_{\text{vib}}^{\prime} = \prod_{i}^{i} \left( \frac{e^{-h\nu_{i}^{\prime}/2kT}}{1 - e^{-h\nu_{i}^{\prime}/kT}} \right) / \prod_{i}^{i} \left( \frac{e^{-h\nu_{i}^{\prime}/2kT}}{1 - e^{-h\nu_{i}^{\prime}/kT}} \right)$$
  
reduces to  $\prod_{i}^{i} \frac{\nu_{i}^{\prime}}{\nu_{i}}$  (20b)

where k is Boltzmann's constant, and the primed constants refer to those for isotopically substituted molecules.

Then, for high temperatures, equating the complete classical and quantum-mechanical partition functions leads to an expression of the form of equation 20c for each reactant and transition state.

$$\frac{Q_{\text{trans}}Q_{\text{rot}}}{Q_{\text{trans}}^{i}Q_{\text{rot}}^{i}} = \prod_{\nu_{i}}^{i} \frac{\nu_{i}}{\nu_{i}} \prod_{\nu_{i}}^{i} \left(\frac{m_{i}}{m_{i}}\right)^{1/2}$$
(20c)

At room temperature and above, the translational and rotational partition functions are well approximated by their high-temperature limits, so equation 20c may generally be used.

In evaluating the functions, a question arises as to the number of vibrations to be counted. For the vibrational partition functions of the transition state of ordinary, nonlinear molecules, only 3n - 7 vibrations may be included, since one degree of freedom (the decomposition along the reaction coördinate) has already been taken specifically into account in the derivation (18) of Eyring's equation. Since, however, the ordinary translational and rotational motions are not specially treated in the absolute rate equation, the quotient in equation 20c must be obtained as if the activated state were an ordinary molecule. The product in equation 20c must therefore include not only 3n - 7real vibrations of each transition state but the imaginary vibrations  $\nu^{t*}$  and  ${\nu'}^{t*}$  as well. Insertion of the rotational and translational functions from 20c into equation 1 leads to equation 20d

$$\frac{\mathbf{k}}{\mathbf{k}'} = \frac{\nu^{\ddagger \ast}}{\nu'^{\ddagger \ast}} \begin{bmatrix} 3n-6 & \nu' & 3n-7 \\ \Pi & \nu' & \Pi & \nu'^{\ddagger} & Q_{\nu ib}^{\prime} Q_{\nu ib}^{\ddagger} \end{bmatrix}$$
(20d)

for a unimolecular reaction or a bimolecular reaction where one reactant is an atom. On substituting the vibrational partition functions from equation 20b into equation 20d, the equation for the ratio of the rate constants is obtained.

However, the transition state AHB has only one real vibration, and the group B is assumed to have no vibration, i.e., it behaves like an atom. Furthermore, for this particular case, the quotient of terms of the form  $1 - e^{-h\nu_i/kT}$  (from equation 20b) may be approximated by unity, since the frequencies of stretching carbon to hydrogen (or carbon to deuterium) bonds are high. With these simplifications, equation 20d easily reduces to equation 20.